THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

FEB 21 2024

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge  
Case No. 2018-CP-26-00307

Appellate Case No. 2023-001150

Wedgewood Condominium Association, ..... Appellant

vs.

Centex Homes, a Nevada General Partnership; Balfour Beatty Construction, LLC as  
successor by merger to Centex Construction Company, Inc. and Centex Construction, LLC;  
Crescent Engineering, Inc., Defendants.

OF WHICH:

Centex Homes, a Nevada General Partnership; Balfour Beatty Construction, LLC as

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION?
- II. DOES S.C. CODE ANN. § 34-31-20 PREVAIL OVER RULE 67, SCRPC?
- III. DOES CENTEX GET AN INTEREST FREE APPEAL?
- IV. WHEN CENTEX CONTESTED LIABILITY IS RULE 67, SCRPC APPLICABLE?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Wedgewood Condominium Association (hereinafter “Wedgewood”) brought this lawsuit against Centex, a Nevada General Partnership; Balfour Beatty Construction, LLC as successor by merger to Centex Construction Company, Inc. (hereinafter “Centex”) for construction defects to the common elements of the Wedgewood Condominium Association located in the Barefoot Resort in North Myrtle Beach, South Carolina. This matter was filed in the Horry County Court of Common Pleas and was assigned to Circuit Judge Carmen Mullen of the Business Court. The case involves claims by Wedgewood of construction defects to include defects to the roofs, siding, attics, walls, bricks, walkways along with building envelope, water intrusion issues and other construction deficiencies. The case was tried to a jury on May 22, 2023. Wedgewood presented Ross Clements, a forensic architect, and Bob Gallagher, a general contractor, who offered a repair estimate. Gallagher’s estimate for repairs to the Wedgewood Condominium Association was \$9,741,101.60. Clements and Centex’s experts all admitted during the trial that there were building code violations, violations of industry construction standards and failure to construct the building pursuant to manufacturer specification. At the close of the testimony, Wedgewood elected to submit only one cause of action to the jury for gross negligence. All of Wedgewood’s other causes of action were

voluntarily dismissed by Wedgewood. On May 26, 2023, after a five-day trial, the jury awarded Wedgewood \$6,750,000.00 in actual damages.<sup>1</sup>

After the actual damages verdict, the court told the parties it would submit the issue of punitive damages to the jury. Wedgewood's counsel then informed the court that it would like to present Centex's Answers to Plaintiff's Requests for Admission dated November 6, 2019. The court had been presented with the financial reports for Pulte Group for 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018. After much argument, Wedgewood's counsel agreed to send only one of the financial statements for the year 2018 for the Pulte Group to the jury. (Tr. p. 1067, lines 1-7; R. p. 197).

The 2018 Pulte Group Annual Report which was presented to the jury and admitted in evidence (R. pp. 207-317) showed that Pulte Group's 2018 and 2017 consolidated balance sheets show net assets for 2018 of \$10,172,976,000.00 and \$9,686,649,000.00 for 2017 (R. p. 254). Further, the Pulte Group Annual Report for 2018 showed that Pulte had outstanding financial results for 2018, that 2018 had been the best year in a decade, that revenues grew by 19% to ten billion dollars, that cash flow from operations alone was \$1.4 billion, that Pulte had 5,000 employees, and that Pulte sold 622,000 new homes in the United States in 2018. All of this information which was presented in the Pulte Group 2018 consolidated annual report was evidence for the court to consider regarding Pulte's financial strength.

Also, a portion of the deposition of Eric Lundblad, a 30(b)(6) witness for Centex was offered who testified he was an employee of one of Pulte's subsidiaries, Pulte had merged with Del Webb in 2014, that Pulte purchased and/or merged with Centex in 2009, and that Pulte holds all of these small – large subsidiaries including Centex under the Pulte umbrella. (R. pp. 318-320).

---

<sup>1</sup> Centex has appealed the verdict, and it is pending before this Court (Appellate Case No. 2023-001132). The appeals have not been consolidated.

Further evidence was presented during the trial from Jeremy Martin, an area construction manager for Centex. (Tr. p. 570; R. p. 180). He offered testimony Centex was a big homebuilder that merged with Pulte and operated in 28 states. (Tr. p. 617; R. p. 181).

After the presentation and argument by counsel, the jury found for Centex on the punitive damages claim. Thereafter, on June 6, 2013 Centex filed a motion for a new trial and a motion for leave to deposit the \$6,750,000.00, plus interest, into the Horry County Clerk of Court and to stay execution of all proceedings against Centex to enforce the judgment (R. p. 13).

On June 14, 2023, Judge Mullen heard Centex's motions for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, motion for a new trial and a motion to deposit the judgment amount with the court. At the hearing, the court denied the JNOV and new trial motions but granted Centex's motion to deposit the judgment amount with the court and issued a Form 4 Order on June 14, 2023. (R. p. 7). A formal Order was filed by the trial court on June 16, 2023 allowing Centex to deposit the \$6,750,000.00 plus accrued interest to date pursuant to Rule 67, SCRC. (Trial Court Order; R. p 1). The court found that the deposit into the court of \$6,803,167.81 would prevent the further accrual of post-judgment interest during the pendency of any appeals filed in this case. (Trial Court Order; R. p. 1). The trial court's reasoning was "Depositing the full judgment amount with the Court will guarantee that funds are available for immediate satisfaction of the judgment should it remain in effect following resolution of post-trial motions and any appeals that are filed." (Trial Court Order, p. 6; R. p. 6).

Centex immediately deposited via check the judgment amount of \$6,750,000.00, plus accrued interest of \$53,167.81 into the Clerk of Court. The Horry County Clerk of Court turned over the \$6,803,167.81 judgment amount and accrued interest to the Horry County Treasurer's Office who was able to place those funds in an interest-bearing account at the rate of 4.75%.

The Supreme Court in an Order dated January 4, 2023, addressed the issue of interest rates on judgments. The Order provides in pertinent part:

South Carolina Code Ann. § 34-31-20(B) (2020) provides that the legal rate of interest on money decrees and judgments "is equal to the prime rate as listed in the first edition of the Wall Street Journal published for each calendar year for which the damages are awarded, plus four percentage points, compounded annually. The South Carolina Supreme Court shall issue an order by January 15 of each year confirming the annual prime rate. This section applies to all judgments entered on or after July 1, 2005. For judgments entered between July 1, 2005, and January 14, 2006, the legal rate of interest shall be the first prime rate as published in the first edition of the Wall Street Journal after January 1, 2005, plus four percentage points."

The Wall Street Journal for January 3, 2023, the first edition after January 1, 2023, listed the prime rate as 7.50%. Therefore, for the period January 15, 2023, through January 14, 2024, the legal rate of interest for money decrees and judgments is 11.50% compounded annually

Thus, a substantial difference in interest rates exists between the 4.75% rate which the funds now earn in the custody of the Horry County Treasurer, and the 11.50% rate which the funds would earn pursuant to S.C. Code 34-31-20(B) (2020). This appeal addresses that issue and whether it was error by the circuit court to allow funds to be paid into the court under the specific facts of this case. The difference between 4.75% and 11.50% interest on \$6,750,000.00 is significant. As an example, if the \$6,750,000.00 judgment earned the statutory interest rate of 11.50% it would be \$2,126.71 a day. If it earns 4.75% it would be \$878.42 a day.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The standard of review to stay the accrual of interest of a judgment on appeal is whether the trial court abused its discretion in granting Centex's motion to stay the accrual of post-trial judgment interest under either Rule 62(b) or 67, SCRPC. In *South Carolina Department of Transportation v. First Carolina Corporation of South Carolina*, 369 S.C. 150, 631 S.E.2d 533, (2006) the Supreme

Court held that an abuse of discretion in regard to the interest rate on a judgment occurs when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support.

In this case, the trial court erred both as a matter of law and because there is no factual support in the record that Centex was unable to pay the verdict in light of evidence of its high net worth of ten billion dollars which had been presented to the trial court at the punitive damage stage of the trial. (R. pp. 182-187, 254). In fact, the judgment in this case is so small in comparison to the net worth of Centex that it has an “interest free appeal.” The record indicates Centex’s net worth is \$10,172,976,000.00 (R. p. 254) and the verdict was \$6,750,000.00. This equates to .06635227% of Centex’s net worth which means it is highly unlikely Centex is unable to pay the judgment.

### ARGUMENT

#### I. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION.

Under the abuse of discretion standard, the trial court may be reversed if its findings are factually deficient. In its order the trial court judge ordered the judgment to be paid into the court and ultimately a low interest bearing account of 4.75% not the 11.50% required by S.C. Code 34-31-20. However, in making this ruling the court said it “will guarantee that funds are available for immediate satisfaction of the judgment should it remain in effect following resolution of post-trial motions and any appeals that are filed.” (Order, p. 6). (R. p. 6). In fact, the parties had just completed a five day trial in which the jury had heard testimony about the net assets of Centex which is ten billion dollars. (R. p. 254). Because the trial court was aware of this testimony, it was a factual error for the trial court to find that it was necessary for the funds to be paid into the court to protect Wedgewood’s judgment on appeal. Pulte/Centex is a national home builder and a publicly traded company, thus, there was no need to be concerned about payment of the judgment. In the case relied upon by the trial court, *Russo v. Sutton*, 317 S.C. 441, 444, 454 S.E.2d 895 (1995), there was reason to believe

that the judgment may not be satisfied because the judgment debtor was an individual. The case involved an alienation of affection verdict against Sutton who decided to appeal. Rule 67, SCRCP benefits the judgment creditor by “encourage[ing] the debtor to pay the judgment and assur[ing] the judgment creditor the funds will be available at the conclusion of the appeal.” *Russo*, 317 S.C. at 444, 454 S.E.2d at 896. However, when the trial court concludes that there is a likelihood the debtor will be able to pay the judgment after the debtor’s appeal has not succeeded on the merits, this benefit turns into prejudice for the judgment creditor by pausing the judgment creditor’s statutory right to post-judgment accrual of interest during the pendency of the debtor’s appeal. See S.C. Code Ann. § 34-31-20 (2020); *Hunting v. Elders*, 359 S.C. 217, 229, 597 S.E.2d 803, 809 (Ct. App. 2004) (“[A] claimant is entitled to interest from the date of the rendition of the verdict or post-judgment interest as a matter of course.”)

Further, an unpublished opinion of this Court, *Davis v. Agape Nursing Rehabilitation Center*, 2022-UP-094 (S.C. Ct. App. March 9, 2022) provides the following salient guidance:

Our reading of the purpose of Rule 67, SCRCP, is in line with federal law, which for many years did not allow a judgment debtor to utilize Rule 67, Fed. R. Civ. P., and pause the accrual of interest when the debtor denied liability for the judgment and the creditor contested the deposit. See *Blasini-Stern v. Beech-Nut Life Savers Corp.*, 429 F. Supp. 533, 535 (D.P.R.1975); *Dinkins v. Gen. Aniline & Film Corp.* 214 F. Supp. 281, 283 (S.D.N.Y. 1963). Rather courts held the Rule was only to be employed when the debtor conceded liability but there was a dispute about which party in the lawsuit should be paid. See, also, *Alstom Caribe, Inc. v. George P. Reintjes Co.*, 484 F.3d 106, 113 (1<sup>st</sup> Cir. 2007) (“The core purpose of Rule 67 is to relieve a party who holds a contested fund from responsibility for disbursement of that fund among those claiming some entitlement thereto.”).

Thus, this Court in *Davis* has recognized that Rule 67 is a procedural device which was only intended to provide a place of safekeeping for disputed funds pending resolution of a legal dispute and not to provide a means of altering the contractual relationships and legal duties of each party. See

11 Charles A. Wright, et al. § 2991, Payment Into Court, 12 *Fed. Prac. & Proc. Civ.* § 2991 (3d Ed. 2021).

In this case, Centex skirted S.C. Code § 34-31-20(B) by paying the judgment, plus accrued interest, into the court under the guise that the funds would be available when the appeal was affirmed. In fact, Centex was and is a ten billion dollar corporation and there was never any need for worry by the trial court about collecting the funds. (See Tr. pp. 1053-1057; R. p. 183-187). Thus, the trial court also erred as a matter of law by finding the full judgment amount should be deposited with the court to guarantee immediate satisfaction of the judgment. This was indeed not necessary since the judgment debtor in this case, Centex's, net assets clearly protected Wedgewood so it could collect its judgment at the end of all appeals.

In fact, there was no allegation that Centex would be unable to pay the \$6,750,000.00 judgement plus interest at a later date. Quite the contrary, due to Centex's net assets, which had just been offered at the trial, Centex could easily pay this judgment plus interest. Thus, based on the evidence the trial court had just heard, there was no evidence by which the trial court could determine that Centex would not be able to pay the verdict after affirmance on appeal. Finally, and as this court in *Davis* noted, Rule 67, Fed. R. Civ. P. is only to be employed when debtors concede liability and not in a case like this one where the debtor contests not only liability but damages. Here, Centex vigorously contested this case for five years and refused to admit liability. Centex cannot take advantage of Fed. R. Civ. P. 67 since it clearly can pay the judgment as it is mere pocket change to the Centex entities based on their net worth.

## II. RULE 67, SCRPC CANNOT OVERRULE S.C. CODE § 34-31-20.

The Court in its ruling failed to reconcile S.C. Code § 34-31-20 and Rule 67, SCRPC. S.C. Code § 34-31-20 states in pertinent part:

In all cases of accounts stated in all cases wherein any sum or sums of money shall be ascertained and, being due, shall draw interest according to law, the legal interest shall be at the rate of eight and three-fourths percent per annum.

Further, each year the South Carolina Supreme Court sets the annual rate for judgment interest. On January 4, 2023, the South Carolina Supreme Court set the annual rate of interest at 11.50%. Despite the command of S.C. Code § 34-31-20 that legal interest shall be 11.50% percent as per S.C. Code § 34-31-20, the trial court found that Rule 62, SCRCP and Rule 67, SCRCP allowed the trial court to disregard the mandatory command of the interest statute on judgments in favor of a rule of civil procedure. It is well settled that statutes are acts of the legislature and are superior to the rules of civil procedure on substantive matters. Accordingly, as a matter of law the trial court could not find that Rule 62, SCRCP and Rule 67, SCRCP override S.C. Code § 34-31-20 which mandates that the legal rate of interest shall be awarded. Accordingly, it was error for the trial court to not apply the legal interest rate of 11.50% to the judgment.

It is well-settled in South Carolina that a rule of civil procedure may not limit the provisions of a statute. See S.C. Constitution, art. V, § 4 (2009) (“Subject to the statutory law, the Supreme Court shall make rules governing the practice and procedure in all such courts.”). In this case, the court is confronted with a conflict between S.C. Code § 34-31-20(B) which specifically says interest shall be paid on judgments and Rule 67, SCRCP which make no mention of interest on judgments in either the text or the advisory notes.

Appellant’s counsel raised that very issue in the hearing of June 14, 2023. He argued to the trial court as follows:

Mr. Connell: -- I -- I think I would ask -- ask the Court to make a ruling on whether or not Rule 67 supersedes South Carolina Code Section 34-31-30 [*sic*], which is the interest statute.

The Court: Yeah.

Mr. Connell: Is that the rules of civil procedure cannot -- are not superior to the interest statute. The interest statute says all judgments collect whatever -- whatever Justice Beaty sets every year in January.

The Court: Right.

(Tr. p. 136, lines 15-25, p. 137, lines 1-3). (R. p. 154, p. 155).

Finally, Appellant's counsel stated:

The Supreme Court has never discussed the interplay between Rule 67 of the Rules of Civil Procedure ... and the interest statute. And we believe that if the Court, when faced with that issue, would find that interest would accrue at a regular rate, whatever that is as of Justice Beaty's decision in January. So we do not agree that they should be able to deposit the money into the court. And it -- all it does, it gives you a free appeal. And so that does -- and I -- I must say, ---

(Tr. p. 137. lines 9-21). (R. p. 155)

In fact, South Carolina case law is in accord with Wedgewood's position. In *Marichris LLC v. Derrick*, 384 S.C. 345, 682 S.E.2d 309 (Ct. App. 2009), this Court held, "A rule of civil procedure may not limit the provisions of a statute." Further supporting evidence is found in the South Carolina Eminent Domain Procedure Act in which the Supreme Court of South Carolina said, "When the Act conflicts with the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, the Act prevails." *South Carolina Department of Transportation v. First Carolina Corporation of South Carolina*, 369 S.C. 150, 631 S.E.2d 533, (2006). This is the majority rule around the country. See *Richardson v. Blaine County*, 526 P.3d 976 (Idaho 2023); *Bevan v. State*, 434 P.3d, 516 (Utah Ct. App. 2018); *AT & T Info. Sys. Inc. v. Wallemann*, 827 S.W. 2d 217 (Mo. Ct. App. 1992).

It is well established in this state that there is a pecking order in regard to statutes, case law, rules of court and state regulations. The Constitution, of course, is supreme. Statutory law is second and rules of court are third. In applying this hierarchy, Rule 67, SCRCF cannot override or supplant

S.C. Code § 34-31-20(B) (2020). In *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 533 S.E.2d 578 (2000), the Supreme Court made clear the following:

It is not the court's place to change the meaning of a clear and unambiguous statute. Where the statute's language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning. What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will. Therefore, the courts are bound to give effect to the expressed intent of the legislature.

Here, the legislature has decreed that all judgments shall earn interest under State law in clear unmistakable language. (See S.C. Code § 34-31-20(B) (2020). It thus follows naturally that a South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure (Rule 67) cannot override the statute which requires interest on judgments. One only need look at S.C. Code § 15-1-10 which provides that when the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure were enacted there was a clear legislative intent that those rules would not undermine or abrogate State law. See S.C. Code § 15-1-10. Rules of Construction.

SECTION 3. In event of conflict between any provision of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure and any other statutory procedures as to practice and procedure and procedure not repealed in this act, the provisions of the rules shall control. However, neither the promulgation of the rules nor this act may be construed to affect the substantive legal rights of any party to any civil litigation in the courts of the state but shall affect only matters of practice and procedure.

As a result of Section 3 of S.C. Code § 15-1-10, the General Assembly made clear that a Rule of Civil Procedure could never affect a substantive right. In this case, Wedgewood has the substantive right under South Carolina law to collect interest on its judgment as S.C. Code § 34-31-20(B) (2020) mandates all judgments shall earn interest. Thus, there is a specific conflict or tension between Rule 67, SCRPC and S.C. Code § 34-31-20(B) (2020), and under well-established rules, a statute will always override a rule of civil procedure when substantive legal rights are involved.

III. CENTEX GOT A FREE BITE OF THE APPLE BY BEING ALLOWED AN INTEREST FREE APPEAL.

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