RECEIVED

Feb 20 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM Horry County Common Pleas Court
Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001150
Trial Court Case No. 2018-CP-26-00307

Wedgewood Condominium Association, Appellant,

v.

Centex Homes, a Nevada General Partnership; Balfour Beatty Construction, LLC as Successor by Merger to Centex Construction Company, Inc., and Centex Construction, LLC; Crescent Engineering, Inc., Defendants,

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

ARGUMENT

I. There is no conflict between S.C. Code Ann. § 34-31-20 and Rule 67.

Wedgewood’s only preserved argument is that S.C. Code Ann. § 34-31-20 (Supp. 2020) precluded Centex from using a Rule 67 deposit of judgment to stop the accrual of post-judgment interest. Appellant’s Brief (“App. Br.”) at 7–10. Binding precedent forecloses that argument.

A. The Supreme Court’s holding in *Russo v. Sutton*, along with later precedents from this Court, foreclose Wedgewood’s argument.

The Supreme Court has already answered the precise issue Wedgewood raises—“whether a judgment debtor’s deposit of a judgment into court, pending the debtor’s own appeal of the judgment, stays accrual of post-judgment interest.” *Russo v. Sutton*, 317 S.C. 441, 444, 454 S.E.2d 895, 896 (1995). It does. *Id.* at 443–44 (“[A] judgment debtor’s deposit of funds into the court pending his own appeal prevents further accrual of interest.”). The Court of Appeals has called this rule “unmistakably clear,” stated that “the court of appeals is bound” by it, and explained that challenges to it are attempts to “argue[] against precedent.” *Duval v. Heritage Life Ins. Co.*, 339 S.C. 616, 620, 529 S.E.2d 566, 568–69 (Ct. App. 2000). The Court of Appeals has followed *Russo* several times. *Id.*; *Small v. Pioneer Mach., Inc.*, 330 S.C. 62, 65, 496 S.E.2d 884, 885–86 (Ct. App. 1998). The federal rule also aligns with *Russo*. See *Zelaya/Cap. Int’l Judgment, LLC v. Zelaya*, 769 F.3d 1296, 1303 (11th Cir. 2014) (“The federal courts . . . have overwhelmingly held that post judgment statutory interest stops accruing once the disputed funds are deposited into the court’s registry.”). *Russo* resolves this case.

In *Russo*, the Supreme Court performed precisely the analysis Wedgewood requests—it analyzed the interplay between South Carolina’s interest statute, S.C. Code Ann. § 34-31-20, and

Rule 67. After citing the post-judgment interest provision in section 34-31-20(B), the Court in *Russo* noted that it had “not previously specifically addressed” whether a judgment debtor could “stop accrual of interest” by depositing a judgment into court, “pending the debtor’s own appeal,” in accordance with Rule 67. *Russo*, 317 S.C. at 443. The Court noted its prior holding that a judgment creditor who appeals is not entitled to interest, because he “delays his right to judgment,” so “the debtor ... should not be required to pay interest.” *Id.* at 443 (discussing *Sears v. Fowler*, 293 S.C. 43, 358 S.E.2d 574 (1987)). The Court distinguished that from prior cases holding that a judgment debtor is “liable for any interest” pending an appeal, but may “stop[] the running of judgment interest” by “payment of the judgment into Court.” *Id.*³ Although neither *Sears* nor *Manning* involved a judgment debtor’s “own appeal,” the Court found the “logical extension of these cases is that a judgment debtor’s deposit of funds into the court pending his own appeal prevents further accrual of interest.” *Id.* The Court quoted Rule 67, under which “a party, upon notice ... and by leave of court...may deposit with the court all or part of the [judgment for a sum of money].” *Id.* at 444 (quoting Rule 67, SCRCF). The money is thereafter controlled by court order: it “shall be deposited as directed by the court” and “shall be withdrawn only upon the check of the clerk of court in favor of the party to whom the order of the court directs.” *Id.* The Court held Rule 67’s procedure was consistent with its prior holding that a debtor could “prevent accrual of interest” on a judgment “by depositing the funds ‘under an order of the court.’” *Id.* at 444. The rule “encourages the debtor to pay the judgment and assures the judgment creditor the funds will be available at the conclusion of the appeal.” *Id.*

³ In *Horry County v. Woodward*, 291 S.C. 1, 351 S.E.2d 877 (Ct. App. 1986), the Court of Appeals applied the rule to allow a county debtor in a condemnation action interplead the judgment amount to the court and thereby stop interest pending the losing party’s appeal). And in *Manning v. Brandon Corporation*, 163 S.C. 178, 161 S.E. 405 (1931), the Supreme Court applied the rule to permit a debtor to stop interest pending a creditor’s appeal.

Under *Russo*, section 34-31-20 of the South Carolina Code and Rule 67 are harmonious because a Rule 67 deposit simply provides an end point for interest accrual, it does not stop interest from accruing in the first place. *See id.* And while the court in *Russo* ultimately denied a post-judgment interest stay because the losing party had not complied with Rule 67, *id.* at 444–45, subsequent precedent resolved any ambiguity. In *Duval* and *Small*, the Court of Appeals applied the rule and affirmed trial court decisions to stay post-judgment accrual of interest after a deposit in accordance with Rule 67. *Duval*, 339 S.C. at 620; *Small*, 330 S.C. at 65.

Wedgewood never grapples with *Russo* or its progeny, instead incorrectly claiming (through referencing its trial court argument) that the Supreme Court had never considered the intersection of section 34-31-20 and Rule 67. App. Br. at 9. One read of *Russo* proves that wrong. 317 S.C. at 443–44. Because *Russo* answered the question, it binds this Court. S.C. Const. art. V, § 9 (“The decisions of the Supreme Court shall bind the Court of Appeals as precedents.”).

* * *

The Court has already rejected, in brisk fashion, the exact same specious arguments Wedgewood advances here. In *Graham v. Town of Latta*, the appellant advanced the same foreclosed argument that § 34-31-20 superseded Rule 67, so a judgment debtor could not stop interest from accruing by depositing the judgment with the court. *Graham v. Town of Latta*, No. 2014-000208 (S.C. App. 2014), Final Brief of Appellant at 1, filed July 9, 2014. It framed the question on appeal as whether “Rule 67 SCRCPC negate[s] S.C. Code Ann § 34-31-20(B)’s mandate that a tortfeasor must pay the legal rate of interest after judgment.” *Id.* at 1. This Court rejected that argument in a single-sentence, unpublished opinion that cited, *inter alia*, *Russo*. No. 2014-000208, 2016 WL 3595771, at *1 (Ct. App. June 29, 2016). This is the same statute, same rule, and same argument. It should be the same result. The Court should affirm.

B. Even in the first instance, there is no conflict between section 34-31-20 and Rule 67.

Wedgewood's argument that section 34-31-20 precludes a judgment debtor from using Rule 67 to stop accrual of interest is not only foreclosed, it is also wrong.

Wedgewood's argument relies on the premise that the interest statute (S.C. Code Ann. § 34-31-20) is irreconcilable with Rule 67. Wedgewood proclaims the trial court determined that Rule 67 "override[s]" section 34-31-20, and that the court "disregard[ed]" the statute. App. Br. at 8. But section 34-31-20 can prevent a Rule 67 deposit from staying accrual of interest, as Wedgewood claims, only if the two provisions conflict. *Grazia v. S.C. State Plastering, LLC*, 390 S.C. 562, 570, 703 S.E.2d 197, 201 (2010). A conflict exists only if section 34-31-20 mandates post-judgment interest in all instances, such that staying post-judgment interest for any reason (as a Rule 67 deposit does) violates the statute. There is no conflict here.

Contrary to Wedgewood's position, section 34-31-20(A) does not require post-judgment interest to accrue until the judgment creditor receives the funds. Wedgewood quotes subsection (A) and underlines language stating that money due "shall draw interest according to law." S.C. Code Ann. § 34-31-20(A); App. Br. at 7–8. That provision, however, does not mandate post-judgment interest. The full text of the provision states:

In all cases of accounts stated and *in all cases wherein any sum or sums of money shall be ascertained and, being due, shall draw interest according to law*, the legal interest shall be at the rate of eight and three-fourths percent per annum.

S.C. Code Ann. § 34-31-20(A) (emphasis added). The italicized language about how money "shall draw interest" is part of a condition precedent: that is, the subsection applies only in "cases wherein any sum or sums of money shall be ascertained and . . . shall draw interest according to law." *Id.* If that condition is met, then the "legal interest" is 8.75 percent. *Id.* But this subsection does not define when money "shall draw interest," nor does it require that money draw interest in all

instances—rather, it assumes that interest is required. *Id.* Wedgewood’s interpretation of the phrase “shall draw interest according to law” to mean that all judgments must accrue interest until the judgment creditor receives the funds inserts language that does not exist and strips the language from its context. *See Se. Toyota Distributors, LLC v. Jim Hudson Superstore, Inc.*, 387 S.C. 508, 514, 693 S.E.2d 33, 36 (Ct. App. 2010) (“A court should not consider a particular clause in a statute in isolation, but should read it in conjunction with the purpose of the entire statute and the policy of the law.”).

Subsection (B) also does not require post-judgment interest in all instances. The provision states that a “judgment of a court enrolled or entered must draw interest according to law.” S.C. Code Ann. § 34-31-20(B). But as the Supreme Court has recognized, “[d]espite the mandatory tenor of the statutory language, the statute does not automatically apply in every case.” *Sears*, 293 S.C. at 45.

Notably, neither provision says anything about events that, “according to law,” stop a judgment or other amount “being due” from drawing interest. As the court in *Russo* held, a Rule 67 deposit is one such action that can “stop accrual of interest.” 317 S.C. at 443–44.

Attempting to distinguish *Russo*’s harmonious application of section 34-31-20(B) and Rule 67, Wedgewood argues for pages that a statute controls over a conflicting rule of civil procedure. *See App. Br.* at 7–10. This is true but immaterial—the takeaway from *Russo* is that they do not conflict. And amidst that argument, but without further explanation, Wedgewood cites a case that holds a judgment debtor’s Rule 67 deposit did not stop accrual of statutory interest. *S.C. Dep’t of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 369 S.C. 150, 631 S.E.2d 533 (2006). That case does not help Wedgewood.

Unlike this case, *First Carolina* involved a condemnation action. *See First Carolina*, 369 S.C. at 155 & n.2 (differentiating *Russo* because “*Russo* is not a condemnation action”). Condemnation law, unlike other actions, requires post-judgment interest for the duration: “Where the market value of the property is not paid contemporaneously with the taking, the owner is entitled to interest for the delay in payment from the date of the taking until the date of the payment.” *S.C. Dep’t of Transp. v. Faulkenberry*, 337 S.C. 140, 148, 522 S.E.2d 822, 826 (Ct. App. 1999) (quotation marks omitted). The underlying purpose of this interest also is different: in condemnation proceedings, “[t]his payment of interest has been described as not an award of interest in the traditional sense but rather a good yardstick by which to determine the rate of return on the property owner’s money had there been no delay in payment[.]” *Id.* at 149–50 (quotation marks omitted). Thus—unlike the post-judgment interest Wedgewood seeks—statutory interest for condemnation awards is considered part of “just compensation,” which accrues through the time the property owner receives payment. *See id.* at 150. That condemnation-specific rule drove the result in *First Carolina*, where the court, in interpreting the Eminent Domain Act, emphasized that the Act “clearly requires post judgment interest to be added to any judgment which is not paid within the twenty day period.” 369 S.C. at 155.

Because this “is not a condemnation action” and does not involve application of the Eminent Domain Act, the interpretation of the Eminent Domain Act’s statutory-interest mandate applied by the court in *First Carolina* has no relevance. *Id.* at 156 n.2. *Russo* controls, and requires affirmance.

II. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by permitting Centex to deposit judgment with the court.

Wedgewood’s other main argument tries to assign error based on an argument it never made. Wedgewood contends that the trial court abused its discretion in permitting Centex to

deposit the judgment under Rule 67 because Centex is a large company and, in Wedgewood's view, "the *Russo* rule can never apply when a judgment debtor has ample funds available and is a large multinational corporation[.]" App. Br. at 4–6, 12. This argument is unpreserved and incorrect.

A. Wedgewood's argument is unpreserved.

"It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review." *Stevens & Wilkinson of S.C., Inc. v. City of Columbia*, 409 S.C. 563, 567, 762 S.E.2d 693, 695 (2014) (quotation marks omitted). This rule is important because it "give[s] the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues" and gives the appellate court "a platform for meaningful appellate review." *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011).

Wedgewood *never argued* to the trial court that Centex's size and profitability was a reason to deny Centex's motion to deposit judgment. *See id.* Wedgewood's sole argument to the trial court in opposition to Centex's motion was that the interest statute conflicts with and supersedes Rule 67. (R. 154, lines 23–25 (arguing that "the rules of civil procedure . . . are not superior to the interest statute")). During the hearing on the Centex's motion, Wedgewood referred to that argument as what its "position would be on appeal." (*Id.*, lines 19–20). But as discussed in Section I, this argument has been rejected expressly by South Carolina courts. Wedgewood never argued that Centex's net worth was a reason to deny the motion, nor did it ask the court to make certain factual findings. The trial court thus had no "opportunity to rule" on that issue, giving this Court no ability to review. *Herron*, 395 S.C. at 465. This argument should be rejected as unpreserved and thus procedurally barred. *Id.* at 470.

B. There is no large-company exception to Rule 67.

Even if the Court reached the merits, it should reject Wedgewood's argument for an exception to Rule 67 for "large multinational corporations."

The plain text of Rule 67 contains no large-company exception. The rule applies “[i]n an action” involving monetary judgments and permits “a party” to deposit a judgment with the court. Rule 67, SCRCP. The rule does not limit the kinds of “actions” or kinds of “parties” that can deposit a judgment. The discriminatory rule Wedgewood seeks finds no support in Rule 67.

Nor does *Russo* create an atextual large-company exception to Rule 67. The court in *Russo* stated broadly that “a judgment debtor’s deposit of funds into the court pending his own appeal prevents further accrual of interest.” 317 S.C. at 444. It does not discriminate based on the company’s size.

Wedgewood disputes none of this. Instead, it seizes on a portion of the court’s opinion in *Russo* that explained the *benefits* of the *Russo* rule are that it “encourages the debtor to pay the judgment and assures the judgment creditor the funds will be available at the conclusion of the appeal.” *Id.* Wedgewood attempts to twist this language into a test the trial court must apply before determining whether the judgment debtor can deposit funds. App. Br. at 6–7 (claiming there “was *no evidence* by which the trial court could determine that Centex would not be able to pay the verdict”) (emphasis added). But the language in *Russo* was a “rationale” for the rule, not a test. *Duval*, 339 S.C. at 620. And this Court has held that large companies can utilize the rule. *Id.* (life-insurance company); *Small*, 330 S.C. at 65 (heavy-machinery manufacturer). A trial court need not make findings about the defendant’s ability to pay a judgment before exercising its discretion to apply Rule 67.

Moreover, the benefits identified in *Russo* are not furthered only by permitting deposit by a potentially insolvent debtor. One of the benefits identified for the *Russo* rule was “encouraging the debtor to pay the judgment.” *Russo*, 317 S.C. at 444. This benefit is advanced in every case. Using the carrot of stopping post-judgment interest, the *Russo* rule encourages the judgment debtor

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